RECEIVED

Jul 01 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM
South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission
Appellate Panel

Appellate Case No. 2024-000294

Hector Lopez-Vasquez, Claimant/Appellant,

v.

Ox Paper Tube & Core Carolina
LLC, Employer, and Berkshire
Hathaway Homestate Insurance,
Carrier Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Andrew W. Creech
Elrod Pope Law Firm
212 E. Black Street
Rock Hill, SC 29732
(803) 324-7574
Acreech@elrodpope.com

Jordan C. Calloway
McGowan, Hood, Felder & Phillips, LLC
1539 Health Care Drive
Rock Hill, SC 29732
(803) 327-7800
jcalloway@mcgowanhood.com

Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Law provision governing "medical . . . and other treatment" (S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60(A)) covers services of a claimant's family member that are equal to those offered by a nurse or home health aide.
2. Whether the South Carolina Workers Compensation Commission erred in imposing a licensure requirement for attendant care providers that is not stated or implied in section 42-15-60(A).
3. Whether the South Carolina Workers Compensation Commission erred in going beyond section 42-15-60's plain language to deny payment for family member attendant care based on unfounded policy concerns.
4. Whether Claimant had good cause for refusing Employer's preferred attendant care providers who could not work in his home and when a family member's services would be more beneficial to his recovery.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This workers' compensation matter began when Hector Lopez-Vasquez ("Claimant") filed an Employee's Notice of Claim and/or Request for Hearing ("Form 50") on April 26, 2022 (Form 50; Single Commissioner's Order at 17 ¶ 2). Claimant sought an award and payment of attendant care services provided by his longtime partner (Julianna Roldan-Dimas) for injuries suffered on February 18, 2022, while working for Ox Paper Tube & Core LLC ("Employer") in York, South Carolina. (Single Commissioner's Order at 17 ¶¶ 1-2). Prior to the hearing, the parties resolved the issue as to how much back payment was owed for previously rendered attendant care services. (Commissioner Order at 22 ¶¶ 33). The issue at the hearing was payment for required attendant care services moving forward. Claimant argued 15 hours of attendant care per day to be provided by his long-term significant other Julianna Roldan-Dimas should be ordered based on the recommendation of Claimant's treating physician, Dr. Sima Desai, (whom Employer selected and authorized) and extenuating circumstances in the home Claimant shared with his extended family. (Claimant Br. to Appellate Panel at 2).

The parties agreed Claimant is entitled to attendant care (Single Commissioner's Order at 4 ¶ 3), but Employer challenged both the amount of attendant care Claimant's condition warranted and the qualifications required of the caregiver. (Single Commissioner's Order at 19 ¶¶ 14-15). Employer relied on a proposed expert who had never evaluated or treated Claimant (Dr. Maria Lopez-Virella) to argue his condition required only 90 minutes of attendant care per day and that the care must be provided by a nurse or licensed home health care aide. (Single Commissioner's Order at 19 ¶ 15; at 27 ¶ 23). Furthermore, Dr. Lopez-Virella is only board certified in pathology and lipidology, and does not treat patients with brain injuries but rather patients with diabetes. Finally, Dr. Lopez-Virella did not even produce an actual medical report, but instead simply checked boxes from a questionnaire Employer drafted. A hearing on the disputed attendant care issues was held before South Carolina Workers Compensation Commissioner T. Scott Beck on October 19, 2022. (Single Commissioner's Order at 5).

Claimant presented records documenting his post-accident medical care as well as deposition or live testimony from Dr. Desai, Ms. Roldan-Dimas, and Andrea Angeles-Roldan, Ms. Roldan-Dimas's daughter and one of the owners of the home where Claimant resides. (Single Commissioner's Order at 7-16). Commissioner Beck entered an order on May 23, 2023, finding Claimant had met his burden to prove a compensable accidental injury and entitlement to attendant care. (Single Commissioner's Order at 28-29). Commissioner Beck's order included the following conclusions of law which have not been challenged or appealed by the parties.

- Claimant's work-related injuries were substantial ("near catastrophic"), and his condition requires attendant care. (Single Commissioner's Order at 23-27 ¶¶ 7, 13, 22).
- Claimant's attendant care needs remained substantial at the time of the hearing despite recent improvement in his ability to perform some activities of daily living ("ADLs"). (Single Commissioner's Order at 27 ¶ 22).

- Specifically, Commissioner Beck credited Dr. Desai’s opinion that Claimant requires 15 hours of attendant care per day over Employer’s expert (Dr. Lopez-Virella) who claimed Claimant only required 1.5 hours per day of supervision. (Single Commissioner’s Order at 26-27 ¶¶ 21-22).
- Dr. Desai’s opinion carried more weight than Dr. Lopez-Virella’s because Dr. Desai was Claimant’s authorized treating physician, she had physically examined Claimant, and she was more familiar with his condition. (Single Commissioner’s Order at 27 ¶ 23).
- An order for attendant care services met all the requirements imposed by S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60(A) as the 15 hours per day of attendant care services Dr. Desai recommended “tend[ed] to lessen the period of disability” Claimant would experience. (Single Commissioner’s Order at 23, 26 ¶¶ 8, 21).

The order also noted Dr. Desai’s testimony that Mr. Roldan-Dimas was “capable” of providing the care Claimant required. (Single Commissioner’s Order at 18 ¶ 10). Having seen Ms. Roldan-Dimas’s interactions with Claimant during medical appointments, Dr. Desai concluded she was “the most appropriate caregiver” in light of her close relationship with Claimant and the assistance he required with ADLs. (Single Commissioner’s Order at 18 ¶ 10).

Yet, Commissioner Beck concluded he lacked statutory authority to award payment for the attendant care services Ms. Roldan-Dimas provided. (Single Commissioner’s Order at 24 ¶ 13) (stating that “the commission is constrained to award benefits as permitted by statute” and “may only award benefits pursuant to its statutory authority . . .”). Citing the text of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60(A) and (C), as well as various policy concerns, the order concluded the commission lacked power to award payment for attendant care services provided by a claimant’s non-nurse family member prior to a finding that the claimant was totally and permanent disabled. (Single Commissioner’s Order at 23-26 ¶¶ 8-20).

Claimant then filed a timely Request for Commission Review (“Form 30”), challenging the single commissioner’s interpretation of section 42-15-60 and the order’s resulting limitation

on the attendant care services available to Claimant. A panel of the full Commission held a virtual hearing on Claimant's appeal on August 28, 2023. On February 5, 2024, the appellate panel entered its decision and order affirming the single commissioner's order. (Appellate Panel decision). The panel decision essentially adopted the single commissioner's factual findings and legal conclusions verbatim. Id. at 5-14. Claimant filed a notice of appeal on March 1, 2024. (Notice of Appeal).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Claimant worked for Employer, a manufacturer of large paperboard tubes and cores for various industrial uses when, on February 18, 2022, he was crushed by a 500-pound commercial roll of paper. (Single Commissioner's Order at 6-7; at 17 ¶ 1). The incident caused multiple intercranial hemorrhages, facial fractures, right leg and ankle injuries, and a traumatic brain injury for which Claimant was admitted to Carolinas Medical Center in Charlotte, North Carolina ("CMC"). (Single Commissioner's Order at 7; at 17 ¶ 3). Claimant's CMC admission included nasal surgery and a variety of other treatment. (Single Commissioner's Order at 17 ¶ 3). At the time of his discharge on March 2, 2022, Claimant's long list of diagnoses included subdural hemorrhage, subarachnoid hemorrhage, Lefort II fracture, altered mental status, acute pain due to traumatic brain injury, dysphagia, crush injury, multiple facial fractures, and temporal bone fracture. (Single Commissioner's Order at 17 ¶ 4). Even after leaving CMC, Claimant's long road to recovery was certain to require occupational, speech, and physical therapy. (Single Commissioner's Order at 8).

Claimant's post-hospital treatment was overseen by physical medicine and rehabilitation specialist Dr. Sima Desai, who first saw Claimant on March 17, 2022. (Single Commissioner's Order at 8, 15). Claimant's extensive injuries led to consultations and treatments with a number of other specialists in fields including neurosurgery, plastic surgery, ear nose and throat ("ENT")

medicine, orthopedics, and psychiatry. (Single Commissioner's Order at 9; at 18 ¶ 7). Knee surgery was recommended for a torn meniscus in Claimant's right knee. (Single Commissioner's Order at 9-10). On top of everything else, Claimant suffered severe dental injuries requiring the services of an oral surgeon and creating severe dietary issues that remain to this day. (Single Commissioner's Order at 9; Claimant's Br. to App. Panel at 4). In sum, Claimant's complicated and multifaceted medical treatment was arduous and is ongoing, with Claimant not yet reaching maximum medical improvement. (Single Commissioner's Order at 10).

Claimant's injuries severely hampered his ability to care for himself and to complete ADLs. In the months after his discharge from CMC, Claimant could not bathe without assistance, prepare his own (pureed) meals, travel on his own to doctors' appointments, or even use the restroom without someone outside the door to aid as needed. (Single Commissioner's Order at 12; at 21 ¶ 28). Claimant required assistance in administering his many medications and in physically moving about his home. (Single Commissioner's Order at 12; Hearing Tr. at 20-22). While Claimant's condition has improved, substantial limitations linger, and the timetable for achieving maximum medical improvement remains uncertain. (Single Commissioner's Order at 21 ¶ 29).

In light of these circumstances, Dr. Desai recommended Claimant receive continuous attendant care services. She typically recommends brain injury patients like Claimant have someone at home with them at all times. (Single Commissioner's Order at 15). Claimant's head and leg injuries render him unsteady on his feet, and a caregiver's presence is needed to reduce his risk of falling. (Single Commissioner's Order at 22 ¶ 30). Accordingly, Dr. Desai initially ordered attendant care services be provided 24 hours a day. However, as Claimant's condition had somewhat improved, Dr. Desai later testified he only requires attendant care for all waking hours (6 a.m. to 9 p.m.)—a total of 15 hours per day, 7 days per week. (Single Commissioner's Order at

20 ¶ 17). Employer offered the opinion of Dr. Maria Lopes-Virella, who despite not having personally evaluated Claimant, concluded his condition only required 1 ½ hours per day of attendant care services. (Single Commissioner’s Order at 19 ¶ 14).

Julianna Roldan-Dimas, Claimant’s partner for more than 12 years, quit her full-time job to provide the attendant care Claimant needs (Single Commissioner’s Order at 21 ¶ 24), and her efforts as a caregiver have been invaluable to Claimant’s progression. Dr. Desai, who has witnessed Ms. Roldan-Dimas’s interactions with Claimant during medical appointments, was so satisfied with the quality of care provided that she concluded Ms. Roldan-Dimas is both “able to provide the 24/7 supervision that [Claimant] currently needs” and is “the most appropriate caregiver.” (Single Commissioner’s Order at 18 ¶ 10). Dr. Desai testified in detail why a family member like Ms. Roldan-Dimas is best suited to provide attendant care for a patient like Claimant:

I feel in brain injury patients, we find that loved ones do provide great care, because they’re connected through a bond with their significant other, and I think that’s a big thing that drives brain injury patients and their care for a loved one[] is that comfortability with someone they know is able to provide the competent care he needs.

(Single Commissioner’s Order at 19 ¶ 12). Dr. Desai also testified she knew of no challenges by any of Claimant’s other medical providers to Ms. Roldan-Dimas’s competency or suitability to care for Claimant. (Single Commissioner’s Order at 19 ¶ 11).

Witnesses testified Ms. Roldan-Dimas taking on the role as Claimant’s caregiver was also necessitated by several practical considerations. For one, Claimant communicates almost exclusively in Spanish and, while Employer has sent home health nurses to assist Claimant in the past, they were not Spanish speakers. Whenever these nurses or aides came to assist Claimant, Ms. Roldan-Dimas’s daughter (Andrea Angeles-Roldan) or another family member would have to be present to serve as a translator. (Hearing Tr. 19, lines 19-24). Plus, Claimant is more comfortable

with a family member like Ms. Roldan-Dimas providing the type of physical contact and assistance with bodily functions that his condition requires. (Single Commissioner’s Order at 22 ¶ 32; Hearing Tr. 30, lines 10-11). Most importantly, the testimony indicated Claimant’s living situation would not allow for the presence of non-family caregivers. Claimant and Ms. Roldan-Dimas live in a home owned/occupied by her daughter Andrea, Andrea’s husband Juan, and their two young daughters. (Single Commissioner’s Order at 14; Hearing Tr. 43). As the homeowners, Andrea and Juan both expressed opposition to permitting strangers in their home to provide attendant care services to Claimant. Juan was concerned for the safety of his daughters, and Andrea’s concerns were also based in her history as a sexual abuse survivor. (Hearing Tr. at 45-46).

Claimant’s claim to the Commission sought payment to Ms. Roldan-Dimas for the attendant care services she provides him. (Form 50). In addressing that request, Commissioner Beck noted his appreciation for “the difficulty and hardship that Claimant and his family have experienced” and noted Dr. Desai’s opinion that Ms. Roldan-Dimas is both “qualified and in the best position” to provide the services Claimant needs. (Single Commissioner’s Order at 24 ¶ 13). However, Commissioner Beck interpreted the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Law’s medical payments statute (S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60) to prohibit an award for attendant care provided by a non-nurse family member prior to a finding that Claimant is totally and permanently disabled. (Single Commissioner’s Order at 24-26 ¶ 13-20). In light of this statutory interpretation, Commissioner Beck found Claimant was entitled to up to 15 hours per day of attendant care services from a home health care aide or nurse only, Employer was required to pay for those services, and Employer had no responsibility for payment to Ms. Roldan-Dimas. (Single Commissioner’s Order at 26-27 ¶ 21).

Moreover, despite Dr. Lopez-Virella's lack of personal experience treating Claimant, Commissioner Beck accepted her opinion that limiting attendant care services to a home healthcare aide or nurse was required to ensure Claimant's best possible recovery. (Single Commissioner's Order at 27 ¶ 23). Claimant's appeal of all these rulings was rejected by the Full Commission in a February 5, 2024 order that adopted the single commissioner's analysis in full. (Appellate Panel Decision and Order). This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A ruling by the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission Appellate Panel should not stand if unsupported by substantial evidence or if it was controlled by an error of law. Hartzell v. Palmetto Collision, LLC, 419 S.C. 87, 92, 796 S.E.2d 145, 147 (Ct. App. 2016). "Substantial evidence" means sufficient proof that "when the whole record is considered," the cited evidence "would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion" the Appellate Panel stated in its order. Id. (quoting Shealy v. Aiken Cnty., 341 S.C. 448, 455, 535 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2000)). Similarly, the Administrative Procedures Act appeal provision allows a reviewing court to "reverse or modify the decision if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions or decisions are . . . clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record." S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5)(e). Courts must interpret workers' compensation statutes liberally in favor of coverage to "further the beneficent purpose of the Workers' Compensation Act." Lewis v. L.B. Dynasty, 411 S.C. 637, 641, 770 S.E.2d 393, 395 (2015). When interpreting the statute at issue here (S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60), this Court has previously recognized statutory construction as a pure issue of law and this Court "is free to decide matters of law with no particular deference to the trial court." Pressley v. Rea Constr. Co., Inc., 374 S.C. 283, 287-88, 648 S.E.2d 301, 303 (Ct. App. 2007).

ARGUMENT

An employer must pay for many of its injured employee's ongoing expenses as the employee seeks to get back to normal or to at least curb the physical limitations comprising his new reality. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60. As interpreted by South Carolina's appellate courts, these compensable expenses may start with bills for a hospital stay and medical supplies but extend broadly to include more mundane services provided by non-medical personnel. The essential

services Ms. Roldan-Dimas provides Claimant fall squarely within section 42-15-60's reach. She manages his medications, drives him to therapy, steadies him as he walks, and prepares food in the only manner he can consume it. Yet, the commission ruled Employer owes nothing for these services because Ms. Roldan-Dimas is not a nurse and the extent/duration of Claimant's disability has not yet been determined.

Those two extra requirements have no basis in section 42-15-60's text and structure or the cases interpreting any portion of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Law. The single commissioner's order (and the appellate panel decision adopting its reasoning) fails as an exercise of statutory interpretation by neglecting to consider the plain meaning of section 42-15-60(A)'s key language ("medical, surgical, hospital, and other treatment") and skipping directly to a flawed public policy analysis. The misguided view of section 42-15-60 applied below is not the compensation system the General Assembly intended when it adopted the statute and is not consistent with other jurisdictions' rulings on similar questions. Worst of all, in Claimant's circumstances, disallowing payment for Ms. Roldan-Dimas's care effectively means Claimant will have to go without these services entirely. Given the statutory text, the medical evidence, and the Workers' Compensation Law's goal of making injured employees whole, the commission's ruling should be reversed and Ms. Roldan-Dimas's invaluable services should be compensated so Claimant may continue his recovery.

1. Section 42-15-60(A) requires payment for the attendant care Ms. Roldan-Dimas provided Claimant.

Resolving the parties' dispute over compensation for the care Ms. Roldan-Dimas provides Claimant depends on the proper interpretation of section 42-15-60(A)'s first sentence. The commission's discussion of that sentence failed to consider its plain meaning and how South Carolina courts have applied it in the past. The commission's resulting reading of section 42-15-

60(A) was overly narrow and an error of law that denies Claimant a benefit the statutory text intended to convey.

Employer “shall provide medical, surgical, hospital, and other treatment” to Claimant for at least ten weeks after his injury and longer in the event expert testimony suggests additional treatment will tend to lessen Claimant’s period of disability. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60(A). The parties do not dispute Claimant presented an expert (Dr. Desai) to testify Ms. Roldan-Dimas’s attendant care services would tend to shorten Claimant’s disability. Thus, the sole legal question here is whether the services Ms. Roldan-Dimas provides Claimant qualify as “medical, surgical, hospital, and other treatment.” The commission’s order does not devote substantial attention to this question. The commission noted “other treatment” is undefined (Single Commissioner’s Order at 26 ¶ 19) and then immediately leapt to a public policy analysis to conclude family member-provided attendant care services could not qualify as “treatment.” (Single Commissioner’s Order at 26 ¶ 20).

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