**RECEIVED**

**Jan 06 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM  
South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission  
Appellate Panel

---

Appellate Case No. 2024-000294

---

Hector Lopez-Vasquez,..... Claimant/Appellant,

vs.

Ox Paper Tube & Core Carolina, LLC, Employer,  
and Berkshire Hathaway Homestate Insurance Company, Carrier, ..... Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

---

Amity S. Edmonds  
GALLIVAN, WHITE & BOYD, P.A.  
55 Beattie Place, Suite 1200  
Greenville, SC 29601  
(864) 271-9580  
[aedmonds@gwblawfirm.com](mailto:aedmonds@gwblawfirm.com)

Curtis L. Ott  
GALLIVAN, WHITE & BOYD, P.A.

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

## ARGUMENT

- I. **The South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission correctly held that the plain language of the only applicable statute (S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60(A)) requires Respondents to provide attendant medical care through a trained and licensed medical professional rather than through a non-professional who lacks any training, education, license or insurance coverage to provide medical treatment.**

The issue on appeal is very narrow because the relevant and important facts are not in dispute. The parties agree that Claimant has not been declared totally and permanently disabled; thus, the parties agree that only section 42-15-60(A), and not (C), applies to this appeal. The parties agree that Respondents are required to provide the attendant care recommended by Dr. Desai. The parties agree that Respondents did offer, through the services of a medical professional, to provide that recommended attendant care, but Claimant declined the offer. (R. p. 30 (“There was no disputing [Respondents] consistently offered, and [Claimant] consistently declined, professional home health care as recommended by Dr. Desai.”)). Claimant’s stated reason is that he instead wants Ms. Roldan-Dimas to provide the services. However, the record establishes that she has only a ninth-grade education, cannot read English and requires a translator to testify, has no medical background, training, license or insurance, and has never worked in the medical field. Thus, she is simply not qualified to provide medical care or treatment.

Despite these undisputed facts, Claimant nevertheless filed his appeal asking this Court to reverse the Hearing Commissioner and the Appellate Panel on the narrow issue of whether Respondents are statutorily required to pay a non-professional to provide the attendant care that Respondents have repeatedly offered to provide through a licensed medical professional. Because the relevant statutory language prohibits Claimant’s request, this Court should affirm.

**A. The plain language of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60(A) requires the Commission’s conclusion.**

There is no dispute Claimant has not reached maximum medical improvement and, likewise, has not been deemed permanently and totally disabled. Therefore, any award of

medical treatment is governed by section 42-15-60(A). While Claimant argues there is no distinction between benefits allowed under subsection (A) and subsection (C), a review of the plain language of the statute and the legislative amendments clearly shows otherwise.

The Hearing Commissioner and the Appellate Panel concluded that pursuant to subsection (A), Claimant is entitled to attendant care, but such care must be provided by a licensed professional, based upon the plain language of the statute. Claimant argues the Commission erred in failing to order non-professional attendant care because section 42-15-60 does not distinguish between professional and non-professional care. However, Claimant mistakenly couches the issue as that of whether the Act distinguishes between professional and non-professional care. Respondents agree the Act does not distinguish between those two phrases. The Act does, however, delineate what medical treatment and “other care” the Commission is allowed to award at various stages of a case.

As the Hearing Commissioner and the Appellate Panel both concluded, if the South Carolina General Assembly had not intended to create a distinction between the types of medical benefits that could be awarded, there would be no reason to draft an entire subsection that relates solely to cases where a claimant has been deemed permanently and totally disabled. The Commission correctly noted that when the legislature amended section 42-15-60 in 2007, the various versions of the bill illustrate a clear intention to keep distinct the benefits provided in cases of lifetime medical benefits once a claimant is deemed permanently and totally disabled versus those provided for in all other cases. During the 2007 amendment process, the legislature had the opportunity to use the more inclusive language of subsection (C) in subsection (A) but failed to do so.

Section 42-15-60(A) addresses the carrier's specific obligation for providing treatment **prior to** a claimant being found totally and permanently disabled. It states in relevant part:

The employer/carrier shall provide medical, surgical, hospital, and other treatment, including medical and surgical supplies as reasonably may be required, for a period not exceeding ten weeks from the date of an injury, to effect a cure or give relief and for an additional time as in the judgment of the commission will tend to lessen the period of disability as evidenced by expert medical evidence stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty. . . . During any period of disability resulting from the injury, the employer, at his own option, may continue to furnish or cause to be furnished, free of charge to the employee, and the employee shall accept, an attending physician and any medical care or treatment that is considered necessary by the attending physician, unless otherwise ordered by the commission for good cause shown. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60(A).

On its face, the language of subsection (A) limits the Commission's authority to order only "medical . . . and other treatment," and, as aptly pointed out by the Hearing Commissioner and Appellate Panel, "[w]hat a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will. Therefore, courts are bound to give effect to the expressed intent of the legislature." *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000) (internal citations omitted). "[T]he cardinal rule of statutory construction is that the court must ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature and in interpreting a statute, the court must give the words their plain and ordinary meaning without resorting to a tortured construction which limits or expands the statute's operation." *Gattis v. Murrells Inlet VFW # 10420*, 353 S.C. 100, 113, 576 S.E.2d 191, 198 (Ct. App. 2006) (quoting *State v. Dickinson*, 339 S.C. 194, 199, 528 S.E.2d 675, 677 (Ct. App. 2000)). The South Carolina Supreme Court has held, "[w]henver possible, legislative intent should be found in the plain language of the statute itself." *State v. Pitman*, 373 S.C. 527, 561, 647 S.E.2d 144, 161 (2007) (citing *Whitner v. State*, 328 S.C. 1, 6, 492 S.E.2d 777, 779 (1997)).

“Where the statute's language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning.” *Hodges*, 341 S.C. at 85, 533 S.E.2d at 581.

In this appeal, the language of subsection (A) is clear and unambiguous concerning what treatment can be ordered, as the statute only uses the terms “medical” and “treatment,” both of which on their face would be defined as services provided by a healthcare professional. To suggest the legislature intended the word “treatment” in section 42-15-60 to encompass care provided by an unlicensed and untrained individual requires a giant leap from the plain language of the statute. Such an argument should be supported by clear evidence showing an intent on the part of the legislature to broaden the scope of the statute beyond the plain language; however, Claimant has failed to provide any such evidence.

When seeking to determine the meaning of a statute, “the Court should not concentrate on isolated phrases within the statute, but rather, read the statute as a whole and in a manner consonant and in harmony with its purpose.” *Duke Energy Corp. v. South Carolina Dept. of Revenue*, 415 S.C. 351, 355 (2016). If there is any question as to whether subsection (A) limits the Commission’s authority to medical professionals and medical treatment, the title of section 42-15-60 is: “Time period medical treatment and supplies furnished; refusal to accept medical treatment; settled claims; total and permanent disability.” The title itself evidences this statute was intended to address an injured worker’s entitlement to medical treatment. The unlicensed, unskilled, and untrained services provided by Ms. Roldan-Dimas do not qualify as medical treatment from a commonsense standpoint.

Importantly, when reading section 42-15-60 as a whole, it is clear the legislature intended to delineate different benefits available to individuals deemed permanently and totally disabled compared to other injured workers. Specifically, subsection (C) outlines a carrier's obligations for providing medical treatment and care in cases where a claimant has been found permanently and totally disabled. In those cases, the carrier's obligation is much broader as it relates to the types of medical treatment and "other treatment or care" that may be necessary as a result of a work accident over the claimant's lifetime. Subsection (C) states a carrier must provide "reasonable and necessary nursing services, medicines, prosthetic devices, medical, hospital, and other treatment or care . . . during the life of the injured employee . . . ." S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60(C). The legislature added subsection (C) in 1980.

Unlike in subsection (A), subsection (C) specifically provides authority for the Commission to award "other treatment or care." The legislature chose to add an entirely different term in subsection (C), when they included other "care," which is not by definition something that can only be provided by a healthcare professional. Importantly, both subsections (A) and (C) were drafted to use the word "and" between the phrases "medical" and "other treatment," which inextricably connects the two words; however, subsection (C) added the term "or care" after "medical" and "other treatment" in the list of benefits that could be ordered after a finding of permanent and total disability. As a matter of statutory interpretation, the legislature's use of "and" connects the separate clauses of "medical" and "other treatment" together, while the use of "or" in subsection (C) evidences the legislature's intent that other "care" could encompass non-professional services, not

provided for in subsection (A). Any other interpretation would render the “or care” language in subsection (C) unnecessary.<sup>2</sup>

While there have been South Carolina cases which have awarded non-professional attendant care to be paid by an employer/carrier, the cases that have provided for non-professional attendant care or other non-medical treatment concern situations where a claimant has either been found permanently and totally disabled or the parties concede the claimant is permanently and totally disabled. Respondents are not aware of, and Claimant does not cite, any case law interpreting section 42-15-60(A) to allow non-family members, or family members,<sup>3</sup> of an injured worker or non-professionals to be compensated for

---

<sup>2</sup> The Hearing Commissioner and Appellate Panel noted that the statute does not specifically define “medical, surgical, hospital, and other treatment.” (R. p. 26 ¶ 19; p. 51 ¶ 19). But they examined the language of the statute and its legislative history to arrive at their conclusion. Claimant recognizes that “[t]he mere fact that the terms are undefined does not mean one must expand beyond the statutory text to understand and apply them.” (App. Br. p. 10). However, Claimant then proceeds to do just that with citations to appellate opinions from outside South Carolina, most of which do not concern the workers’ compensation context. (*Id.* at 11-14). And the workers’ compensation opinions outside South Carolina are distinguishable. For example, the Arizona statute at issue in *Carbajal v. Industrial Commission of Arizona*, 219 P.3d 211, 213 (Ariz. 2009), covers “medical, surgical and hospital benefits or other treatment, nursing, medicine, surgical supplies, crutches and other apparatus, including artificial members, reasonably required at the time of injury, and during the period of disability.” That language is hardly “similar” to section 42-15-60(A) and does not distinguish between the treatment and care available depending on whether a claimant is totally and permanently disabled. (App. Br. pp. 11). Similarly, the North Carolina workers’ compensation statutes at issue in *Mehaffey v. Burger King*, 749 S.E.2d 252 (N.C. 2013), include definitions. The North Carolina Act at that time defined “medical compensation” to include “medical, surgical, hospital, nursing, and rehabilitative services, and medicines, sick travel, and other treatment, including medical and surgical supplies . . .” *Id.* at 255. That definition was also amended in 2011, while *Mehaffey* was on appeal, specifically to include “attendant care services.” *Id.* In short, there is no reason to look beyond the language of section 42-15-60(A) because there is no ambiguity, and Claimant cites no binding South Carolina authority for his position.

<sup>3</sup> Claimant mistakenly argues the Hearing Commissioner and Appellate Panel based their holdings on whether Ms. Roldan-Dimas was a family member. (App. Br. pp. 14-15). Instead, their conclusions were based on the different language used in subsections (A) and (C), whether Claimant had been declared totally and permanently disabled, and Ms.

attendant care before a claimant has been deemed permanently and totally disabled. For instance, in *Pressley v. REA Const. Co., Inc.*, 374 S.C. 283, 648 S.E.2d 301 (Ct. App. 2007), the issue was whether the claimant’s mother was entitled to compensation for providing non-professional attendant care. However, the carrier admitted the claimant was permanently and totally disabled, and conceded he was entitled to lifetime medical benefits. Thus, this Court held that an injured employee is entitled to receive “reasonable and necessary nursing services,” which permitted the Commission to award non-professional attendant care in that case. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60(C). Notably, the “reasonable and necessary nursing services” provision is only mentioned in subsection (C) which, again, only pertains to cases where a claimant has been deemed permanently and totally disabled.<sup>4</sup>

*Thompson v. S.C. Steel Erectors*, 369 S.C. 606, 632 S.E.2d 874 (Ct. App. 2006), is the only other South Carolina appellate court case cited by Claimant regarding the substantive interpretation of section 42-15-60. *Thompson* was decided before the statutory amendments in 2007 and concerned whether the previous version of the statute covered

---

Roldan-Dimas’ lack of qualifications to provide medical treatment. They did not decline “to award an injured employee attendant care simply because the caregiver is a spouse . . . .” (*Id.* at 15). Thus, Claimant’s citation to *Edward Kraemer & Sons, Inc. v. Downey*, 852 P.2d 1286 (Colo. App. 1992) is inapposite. Ms. Roldan-Dimas is not Claimant’s spouse. Furthermore, the Colorado statute at issue in *Downey* requires an employer to “furnish medical, surgical, dental, nursing, and hospital treatment; medical, hospital, and surgical supplies; crutches; apparatus; and guardian ad litem or conservator services as may be reasonably be needed at the time of the injury.” *Id.* at 1288; Colo. Ann. § 8-42-101(1)(a)(I).

<sup>4</sup> Claimant interestingly cited *Pressley* to the Hearing Commissioner as support for his request to order Respondents to pay for “family-provided attendant care.” (R. p. S-5). However, Claimant did not rely on *Pressley* before the Appellate Panel, and Claimant only cited *Pressley* to this Court related to the standard of review. (App. Br. p. 8). Thus, Claimant implicitly acknowledges that *Pressley* is easily distinguishable as both the Hearing Commissioner and Appellate Panel concluded.

costs to make a claimant's residence handicapped-accessible. *Id.* 619, 632 S.E.2d at 881-882. As concluded by the Hearing Commissioner and the Appellate Panel, *Thompson* is inapposite to whether subsection (A) permits an award of attendant care by an unqualified individual before a finding of total and permanent disability.<sup>5</sup>

Accordingly, Respondents contend the Hearing Commissioner and the Appellate Panel correctly held that while Claimant is entitled to attendant care, such services must be provided by a licensed medical professional, as this conclusion is consistent with the plain language of section 42-15-60(A).

**B. The Commission correctly found Ms. Roldan-Dimas is not qualified to provide medical treatment pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60(A).**

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